70606-3

No. 70606-3-I

## IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

## CITIZENS ALLIANCE FOR PROPERTY RIGHTS LEGAL FUND, a Washington non-profit corporation,

Appellant,

v.

SAN JUAN COUNTY, a Washington municipal corporation and the SAN JUAN COUNTY CRITICAL AREAS ORDINANCE/SHORELINE MASTER PROGRAM IMPLEMENTATION COMMITTEE, a subcommittee of the San Juan County Council,

Respondents.

## **APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF**

Dennis D. Reynolds DENNIS D. REYNOLDS LAW OFFICE 200 Winslow Way West, Suite 380 Bainbridge Island, WA 98110 (206) 780-6777 Phone (206) 780-6865 Fax Counsel for Appellant

# ORIGINAL

#### I. INTRODUCTION

This is a case about local government transparency and accountability. The fundamental issue is whether local government committees comprised of San Juan County Council members violated the unambiguous language of the Open Public Meeting Act ("OPMA"), RCW 42.30, by acting on behalf of the County Council when they held private meetings without public notice. The purpose of the private meeting was to discuss and winnow policies and draft legislation regarding land use, budget, and general governance subjects. The meetings were numerous and held over a several year period.

Appellant initiated this case to hold San Juan County accountable for its pervasive and repeated violations of the OPMA. As a result of the egregious facts of this case, the voters of San Juan County removed the three Council members at the heart of this dispute, changed the Council from a six to a three member governing body, and passed a charter amendment to explicitly clarify that all Council and Council committee meetings must comply with the OPMA. The voters recognized the complete failure of local government transparency, and now this Court should similarly hold San Juan County accountable for its OPMA violations.

The Trial Court was presented with a scenario evidencing a myriad of secret meetings held by four separate committees ("the Subcommittees") composed of members of the San Juan Council ("the

1

Council") over several years. When challenging the legality of the secret Subcommittee meetings Appellant relied upon express language of the OPMA that applies its provisions to meetings of committees comprised of members of a governing body, a position acknowledged in writing to the County Council by the San Juan County Office of Prosecuting Attorney before this litigation commenced.

The Trial Court essentially blessed the County's secret meetings, losing itself in fragments of statutory language and ignoring that the OPMA is to be liberally construed to achieve its central purpose of compelling that local government meetings be "open." The Trial Court seemed impressed by late submitted, self-serving, conclusionary declarations signed by Council Members that, despite the admitted conduct in convening and attending a great number of secret meetings, the key Committee created to address to address adoption of a new Critical Areas Ordinance ("CAO"), was not "one of ours." In other words, the County used an "it is not what we did but what we tell you" approach.

The result is a perversion that pushes the public outside in the cold while elected public officials to decide for themselves when to let public into the dimly lit and locked meeting room.

The Trial Court's reasons for denying relief deviate from the OPMA and sound jurisprudence. For instance, the Trial Court desired "Washington case law" explicitly applying the OPMA to meetings of committees composed of less than a majority of the Governing Body – the full County Council – and that the County must have "knowledge" that its actions violate the law.<sup>1</sup> Neither proposition is supported. A public official's knowledge of an OPMA violation is only necessary for assessment of a civil penalty, which is not an issue in this matter. *See* RCW 42.30.120(1). In addition, the language of a statute can be enforced without need of a "case on all points." Further, the courts are directed to look at what other jurisdictions have done in terms of interpreting and applying Open Public Meetings laws upon which Washington's OPMA is based.

Finding no case law of the type it desired, the Trial Court approved the County's actions on the erroneous basis that the OPMA does not apply to any committees comprised of less than a quorum of the six-person County Council.<sup>2</sup> In so ruling, it ignored the evidence that some meetings of the Subcommittees were attended by four Councilmembers and the OPMA statutory language that a committee acting on behalf of the governing body is subject to the OPMA.

The un-refuted record discloses that each of the Subcommittees is a governing body under the OPMA regardless of whether it is comprised of a quorum of the Council. If not, the Subcommittees acted on behalf of the Council. Either way, the OPMA mandates that the committee meetings must be open. A quorum of each subcommittee took "action," outside of the public eye, in that their decision-making was intended to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Clerk's Papers ("CP") at 819 and 821-22 (Summary Judgment at 4 and 6-7).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> CP at 822 and 827-28 (Summary Judgment at 7 and 12-13).

and did streamline the Council's "final action" on legislation or other policy matter subject to public comment and scrutiny under the OPMA.

If the law allows the County to be "immune" from the OPMA by holding subcommittee meetings with half of the full Council in attendance, other governmental entities can easily work around the prohibition against secret meetings by limiting subcommittees' size to one less than a quorum of the Council as a whole. Such an absurd result is not allowed by the plain provisions of the OPMA and is contrary to public policy.

## II. THE COUNTY COUNCIL'S FAILURE TO FOLLOW THE OPMA AND ITS REFUSAL TO STAND BEHIND ADVICE PROVIDED BY ITS LEGAL COUNSEL

The Critical Areas Ordinance ("the CAO") Subcommittee met in secret to discuss issues related to the adoption of a new CAO, a matter of major importance.<sup>3</sup> Yet, the CAO Subcommittee meetings were closed to the public.<sup>4</sup> A County Council Member illustrated that devious fact during a County Council meeting:

> [Council Member Stephens]: And I think on the CAO process if we didn't have – if we didn't have the coordination committee, which is a subcommittee, we wouldn't have made any progress.

> [Council Member Miller]: Please don't use that example.<sup>5</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> CP 320, 421-22 (Palmer Decl. Ex. C at p. 15:23–16:18; Ex. D at p. 97:9–98:20).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> CP 500 (Palmer Decl. at Ex. U); CP 333 (Palmer Decl., Ex. C at p. 49:11-15).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> CP 187-236 (Petersen Decl. Ex P, at 10:18-22).

The other Subcommittees met in secret on matters of General Governance Solid Waste and the Budget. The Subcommittee meetings were not noticed and not open to the public. The County admitted this in its Answer.<sup>6</sup> In addition, the County did not dispute that four Councilmembers (a quorum of the Council as a whole) were present at some meetings of the Subcommittees, or that four Council members participated in a series of telephone calls and emails on November 14, 2011, in which they discussed the wetland process for the CAO update.

When asked by the County to analyze the legality of these secret subcommittee meetings, its elected Prosecuting Attorney Randy Gaylord urged compliance with the OPMA requirements for subcommittee meetings when there are three members of the County Council present<sup>7</sup>:

> With an appropriate respect for caution and to protect the public interest and assure the validity of actions by the Council, we advise that no meetings of three council members should occur without complying with the notice and other requirements of the Open Public Meetings laws.

CP 450 (Palmer Decl. Ex. E at 2).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> CP 64 (County Answer, at p. 3:12-15).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> On April 26, 2012, the San Juan County Prosecuting Attorney's office submitted a formal memorandum to the County Council and to the Charter Review Commission regarding meetings of three members of San Juan County Council. The memo specifically mentions and addresses the CAO Implementation Team, and the Budget, General Governance and Solid Waste Subcommittees. The Prosecuting Attorney's advice was based on a review of attorney general opinions, reported case law in Washington State and decisions of the supreme court of Wisconsin, a state with laws similar to Washington. CP 449-457 (Palmer Decl. Ex. E).

The County disregarded Prosecuting Attorney Gaylord's advice, and directed a deputy prosecuting attorney to argue to the Trial Court that the OPMA was not violated when the Subcommittees met in private.

#### III. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The OPMA, RCW 42.30, was passed by the legislature in 1971 as a part of a nationwide effort to make government affairs more accessible.<sup>8</sup> The OPMA is intended, among other goals, to "unlock" the doors of government policy and law-making to the public and increase public trust in the decisions of elected officials.<sup>9</sup>

A *prima facie* case of an OPMA violation is established when (1) a governing body of a public agency – a "subagency" of a public agency or "committee thereof," created **or** acting on behalf of the governing body (2) holds a private meeting without notice, (3) in which "action" **or** "final action" occurred.<sup>10</sup>

The Trial Court's fundamental legal error is the determination that the only "governing body" and the only "public agency" subject to the Act is the full County Council. *See* CP 818 – 820 and 824 (Summary

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Washington's OPMA was modeled on a California law known as the "Brown Act" and a similar Florida statute. See Cal. Governmental Code 54950-61 and 11120 et seq.; Fla. Stat. 286.011 et seq. Decisions from those jurisdictions provide guidance in interpreting Washington law. E.g., Anaya v. Graham, 89 Wn. App. 588, 592, 950 P.2d 16 (1998).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup>See Town of Palm Beach v. Gradison, 296 So.2d 473, 475 (Fla. 1974); 19 Government-In-The-Sunshine Manual at 48 (ed.1997). Washington's law is modeled on "sunshine" laws of California and Florida.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Eugster v. City of Spokane, 110 Wn. App. 212, 222, 39 P.3d 380 (2002) ("Eugster *I*") (where there is no claim for personal civil penalties, the plaintiff must submit evidence showing "(1) that a 'member' of a governing body (2) attended a 'meeting' of that body (3) where 'action' was taken in violation of the OPMA); *Feature Realty Inc. v. Spokane*, 331 F.3d 1082, 1088 (9th Cir. 2003)(an OPMA violation occurs if "action" or "final action" is taken and the meeting must be open to the public unless an exception applies).

Judgment Decision, pp. 3-5, 9).<sup>11</sup> The decision on this pure question of law is contrary to law: a meeting of the majority of the Council is not required to trigger the OPMA.<sup>12</sup>

Addressing the language of the law, RCW 42.30.010 states:

The legislature finds and declares that all public commissions, boards, councils, *committees, subcommittees*, departments, divisions, offices, and all other public agencies of this state and subdivisions thereof exist to aid in the conduct of the people's business. It is the intent of this chapter that their actions be taken openly and that their deliberations be conducted openly.

(Emphasis added).

The OPMA not only requires meetings of the Council to be open,

but the OPMA also requires committee and subcommittee meetings to be

open when acting on their own accord and/or on behalf of the Council.

See RCW 42.30.010; RCW 42.30.020(1), (2).13

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> The Court's reliance on the trilogy of *Eugster* cases regarding the definition of a "governing body" is misplaced because **none** of the *Eugster* cases involved challenges to actions of a committee. *Eugster I*, 110 Wn. App. at 222-24 (addressing the issue whether a "meeting" occurred); *Eugster v. City of Spokane*, 118 Wn. App. 383, 422-23, 76 P.3d 741 (2003) ("*Eugster II*") (addressing discussion between the "City" and investors in a parking garage); *Eugster v. City of Spokane*, 128 Wn. App. 1, 7, 114 P.3d 1200 (2005) ("*Eugster III*") (addressing a secret ballot conducted by the Council as a whole).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> Clark v. City of Lakewood, 259 F.3d 996, 1012-1013 (9th Cir. 2001) (the OPMA applied to a subcommittee of the Lakewood City Council even though less than a majority of the Council and less than a majority of the Planning Advisory Board members were on the subcommittee); Loeffelholtz v. Citizens for Leaders with Ethics and Accountability, 119 Wn. App. 665, 701, 82 P.3d 119 (2004), ("C.L.E.A.N.") (the OPMA does not apply "[i]f the body or committee lacks a quorum," but the OPMA applies when a quorum of a committee – not just a quorum of the broader governing body – takes action).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> See, e.g., CP 691-695 (Palmer Decl. Ex. BH (concluding that how a committee is created is less important to the OPMA than what the committee actually does)).

There are other errors, not all which this Court may need to address if the fundamental error is corrected on appeal.

First, the Trial Court erroneously ruled that the Subcommittees did not, and could not take "final action," because they did not constitute a quorum of the Council as a whole and thus there was no violation because the OPMA applies only in circumstances where final action occurs (ignoring evidence of Subcommittee meetings at which four Council members were present).

Regardless of whether three or four Council members were present, when a quorum of the CAO Subcommittee (and the other subcommittees) met and took action by discussing the CAO and other policy matters later taken up by the Full Council, such activity is sufficient by itself to invoke application of the OPMA.

As the court in *Eugster I* stated:

"Action" is defined as "the transaction of the official business of a public agency by a governing body including but not limited to receipt of public testimony, deliberations, discussions, considerations, reviews, evaluations, and final actions." RCW 42.30.020(3). "'Final action' means a collective positive or negative decision, or an actual vote by a majority of the members of a governing body when sitting as a body or entity, upon a motion, proposal, resolution, order, or ordinance." *Id*.

The clear language of the statute defines action as "the transaction of the official business of a public agency by a governing body." RCW 42.30.020(3). The statute then goes on to give a nonexclusive list of examples, including final action. Action does not require final action. In addition to final actions, the list of examples includes discussions, deliberations, consideration, and review. The governing body members need merely "communicate about issues that may or will come Before the Board for a vote." Wood, 107 Wash.App. at 565, 27 P.3d 1208.

In Organization to Preserve Agr. Lands v. Adams County, 128 Wash.2d 869, 883 n. 2, 913 P.2d 793 (1996), the court noted the plain language of the OPMA does not distinguish between "action" and discussions short of action **because the definition of action includes "discussion."** In Miller v. City of Tacoma, 138 Wash.2d 318, 326-27, 979 P.2d 429 (1999), the court also rejected an argument that action requires final action. Instead, the court held that all actions, including final actions, must be done in a meeting open to the public. Id.

Eugster I, 110 Wn. App. at 225 (emphasis added).

Second, the Trial Court erroneously failed to hold the County to the requirements of the OPMA when it excused the actions of the Subcommittees based on strained legal arguments unsupported by the language of the OPMA and un-rebutted substantial evidence in the record that the Subcommittees, including the CAO Subcommittee, acted on behalf of the Full Council.

The Trial Court's misapplication of the OPMA should not be condoned by this Court. What occurred in numerous subcommittee meetings over an extended period of time was not mere "informal gathering" by members of the Council. Nor were the Subcommittees simply providing "advice or information" to the Council.<sup>14</sup> The purpose of the Subcommittees was to parse out work that the Council as a whole was undertaking to help it make certain public policy decisions more quickly (and presumably largely out of the scrutiny of groups such as Appellant). *See* allegations, Amended Complaint, ¶ 10, which the County admitted in its Answer.<sup>15</sup> The County conceded<sup>16</sup> that the CAO Subcommittee discussed, considered, reviewed, evaluated scientific data, policy materials, and took input from a wide variety of sources to further the drafting of the Critical Areas Ordinance.

The Subcommittees, in short, were not merely "advising" the Council – they presented it with a narrowed, if not single, policy proposal that had been culled from various ideas and options discussed out of the public's view in Subcommittee meetings and at which outside contractors and staff were in attendance. Gaylord Memorandum, CP 449-457. *See also* admission to allegations of Amended Complaint, ¶ 63 and ¶ 65.<sup>17</sup> Those members of the Council who did not participate in the secret committee meetings were influenced by the weight of opinions of those committee members who participated in the secret meetings and narrowed

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> See CP 78 (County Summary Judgment Memorandum at 5:12-14).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> CP 24 (CAPR Amended Complaint at 3:13-23 ); CP 62-71 (County Answer at 3:1-11).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> The Prosecuting Attorney's April 12, 2012, memorandum admits the existence and work of the Subcommittees, and application to the OPMA to its activities, as did members of the County Council who sat on the CAO Subcommittee. *E.g.*, CP 294-297 (Palmer Decl. Ex. B at p.13:13–16:5); CP 449-457 (Gaylord Memorandum at 13:21-14:7).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> CP 34-35 (CAPR Amended Complaint ); CP 68-69 (County Answer at 7:17-8:11).

the policy options. Thus, some Council members were left in the dark as was the public, while others were "in the know," as noted by Prosecuting Attorney Gaylord.<sup>18</sup>

Third, the Trial Court wrongfully ignored evidence submitted by Citizens Alliance for Property Rights Legal Fund ("CAPR") in response to the summary judgment motion<sup>19</sup> that shows four of six Council members (Pratt, Fralick, Peterson, and Miller) held a series of telephone and email exchanges on November 14, 2011, in which they discussed the wetland process for the CAO update. Such serial conversations constitute a "meeting" under the OPMA.

Fourth, the Trial Court erred when it failed to take all facts plead by CAPR as true, let alone in the light most favorable to Plaintiffs as the non-moving party. The Trial Court's approach to the facts and application of the facts to the law is so contradictory that it is hard to grasp. It "assumed" facts on the one hand, for example, that the Committees acted on behalf of the Council,<sup>20</sup> but on the other hand it found facts in dispute as established in favor of the County, for example, that the Committees were somehow *sui generis*.<sup>21</sup>

This inconsistent approach need not be fully sorted out by this Court. This Court can rule on the pure question of law that the OPMA not

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> CP 456 (Palmer Decl. Ex. E at p. 7).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> CP 94-186 (CAPR Response to Summary Judgment Motion) ; CP 483-486 (Palmer Decl., Ex. P).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> CP at 817-18 (Summary Judgment Decision at 2-3).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> CP at 823 (Summary Judgment Decision at 8).

only applies to the full Council with a quorum but also to committees composed of Council members when a quorum of committee members attend a committee meeting. This Court can also rule that the Trial Court's decision improperly interchanges the terms "action" and "final action." Rulings on these questions of law arguably make any factual dispute immaterial.

Fifth, although the County did not make any arguments addressing CAPR's allegations concerning meetings of the other subcommittees, the Trial Court also dismissed those claims, notwithstanding evidence that such meetings also included four Council members, which is a quorum of the Council itself.<sup>22</sup>

#### IV. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

A. The Trial Court erred by entering a summary judgment order of dismissal and ruling that CAPR's Open Public Meetings Act claims were without merit because: (1) a quorum of the County Council was not present at the CAO Subcommittee meeting (or other Subcommittee meetings), notwithstanding the fact that a quorum of the Subcommittees was present at each meeting; (2) the Subcommittee meetings are not subject to the OPMA; and (3) no "final action" took place at the Subcommittee meetings on behalf of the governing body, notwithstanding that the OPMA does not require "final action" for it to apply to the work of committees.

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