IN THE COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

X

NO. 70606-3-I

CITIZENS ALLIANCE FOR PROPERTY RIGHTS LEGAL FUND, a Washington non-profit corporation,

Appellant,

v.

SAN JUAN COUNTY a Washington municipal corporation, and the SAN JUAN COUNTY CRITICAL AREAS ORDINANCE/SHORELINE MASTER PROGRAM IMPLEMENTATION COMMITTEE, a subcommittee of the San Juan County Council,

Respondent.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT SAN JUAN COUNTY

Amy S. Vira, WSBA No. 34197 San Juan County Deputy Prosecuting Attorney 350 Court Street, 1st Floor P. O. Box 760 Friday Harbor, WA 98250 360-378-4101 Attorney for Respondent San Juan County

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

V. ARGUMENT

A. Summary of Argument

After reviewing all the evidence in the record in the light most favorable to CAPR, Judge Hancock correctly determined that CAPR could not establish the elements of an OPMA claim.

To avoid summary judgment CAPR must produce evidence showing (1) members of a governing body, (2) held a meeting of that body, (3) where that body took action in violation of the OPMA, and (4) the members of that body had knowledge that the meeting violated the

statute. *Eugster v. City of Spokane*, 118 Wn. App. 383, 424, 76 P.3d 741 (2003). The first three elements must be shown to prevail on an OPMA claim. *Id*.

CAPR failed to show these three elements: (1) a quorum of the County Council met in violation of the OPMA, or (2) the CAO Team or other subcommittee acted on behalf of the San Juan County Council or (3) the CAO Team or other subcommittee took "action." Without evidence to support any one of these elements, CAPR's claim was properly dismissed.

CAPR confuses the term "action" as defined by RCW 42.30.020(3) and the phrase "act on behalf of" which is stated as a prerequisite for committees to be "governing bodies" under RCW 42.30.020(2). By doing so, CAPR attempts to apply the same elements of an OPMA claim to subcommittees as would be applied to the San Juan County Council. This is incorrect.

B. A Majority or Quorum of the County Council Was Not Present at Any Meeting.

1. There was no gathering with four Council members present.

A meeting with less than a majority of the governing body does not violate the OPMA. *Wood v. Battle Ground School Dist.*, 107 Wn. App. 550, 564, 27 P.3d 1208 (2001) *Eugster v. City of Spokane*, 128 Wn. App.

1, 3, 114 P.2d 1200 (2005). Additionally, the participants of the meeting must collectively intend to meet to transact the governing body's official business. *Id.* at 565. CAPR asserts that three members of the six-member County Council met at various times in violation to the OPMA. Three members of the San Juan County Council do not make a majority or a quorum of the six-member Council. CAPR's references to four members attending meetings is not shown in the record and should be disregarded by the Court.

2. The email exchange

In its motion for reconsideration, CAPR alleged for the first time that "four of the six Council members (Pratt, Fralick, Peterson, and Miller) held a series of telephone and email exchanges in which they discussed the wetland process for the critical areas ordinance update." CP 895. Judge Hancock appropriately criticized CAPR for failing to raise this issue in summary judgment.

This issue was never raised by CAPR in connection with the county's motion for summary judgment. It was therefore, waived, and need not be considered by the court. In light of the fact that CAPR never previously raised the issue, it is particularly troubling for CAPR to assert that the court "missed" this issue. Amended Motion, page 5. Obviously, the court did not miss the issue. CAPR never raised the issue! The court is under no obligation to search out issues that a party declines to raise.

¹ A copy of the email exchange (CP 877-79) is attached as Appendix C.

CP 928. Nevertheless, Judge Hancock addressed the merits of CAPR's allegations and found that the email exchange was never a meeting.

The exchange involved nothing more than a short email exchange between two council members, Peterson and Fralick. There is reference to a telephone call from Councilmember Pratt to Mr. Fralick. Councilmember Miller was nothing more than a passive recipient of emails from Mr. Fralick.

Id. Judge Hancock concludes his analysis of this issue by finding,

[t]he record also does not support CAPR's characterization that the three council members "discussed the wetland process for the critical areas ordinance update.". Rather, as Councilmember Fralick testified in his deposition, the emails had to do with a scheduling or timing issue. [CP 871-75]

CP 929 (internal citations omitted). Judge Hancock properly ruled "[t]here was no violation of the OPMA in connection with these emails and telephone conversation." *Id*.

The email chain at issue started on November 14, 2011, when County Planner Shireene Hale sent an email to the Planning Commission about the critical areas ordinances. CP 877-79. The County Council was not copied on the email. *Id.* That same day, Councilmember Rich Peterson received a copy of the email; how he received the copy is not shown. *Id.* Mr. Peterson forwarded Ms. Hale's email to two Councilmembers: Patty Miller and Richard Fralick, noting that he had a question. *Id.* Later that

day, Richard Fralick responded to Rich Peterson's question and copied Patty Miller. *Id.* Mr. Fralick also stated that Councilmember Lovel Pratt called him regarding other matters and that he mentioned Ms. Hale's email to Ms. Pratt. *Id.* Mr. Fralick further informed Mr. Peterson that he was not aware of the content of Ms. Hale's email until it was forwarded to him. *Id.* The rest of the email chain contains an email from Mr. Fralick to former County Administrator Pete Rose, and an email from Mr. Fralick to Patty Miller regarding a different matter. *Id.*

CAPR has not said when a "meeting" allegedly occurred; nor has CAPR indicated what "action" was taken by the County Council in this email exchange. The mere use or passive receipt of email by Councilmember Miller does not automatically constitute a "meeting." Wood, 107 Wn. App. at 564. Members of a governing body must collectively intend to meet to transact the governing body's official business and must communicate about issues that may or will come before the governing body for a vote. *Id.* at 565. In the November 14, 2011 email chain, the third Council member – Patty Miller – was nothing more than a passive recipient of the email, and there is no evidence that the fourth Council member – Lovel Pratt – even knew about the fact of the email. CAPR's presentation of this email chain does not establish the necessary elements for its OPMA claim.

C. A Subcommittee is Not a "Governing Body" If It Does Not "Act on Behalf of" the County Council.

The San Juan County Council is the legislative body of San Juan County. CP 726 (San Juan County Charter, Section 2.10). It is the policy and rule-making body of the County and falls squarely within the definition of "governing body" under RCW 42.30.020(2). The Team, however, is not a policy- or rule-making body of San Juan County. Consequently, the Team could only violate the OPMA if it acted "on behalf of" the County Council. The second part of RCW 42.30.020(2) applies the Act to, "any committee thereof when the committee acts on behalf of the governing body, conducts hearings, or takes testimony or public comment." Thus, to establish that the Team violated the OPMA, CAPR had to show that the Team was a "committee of the Council" and was "acting on behalf of" the Council when the alleged violations occurred.²

Not all committees fall under the Act. When it adopted the OPMA, the legislature "demonstrated that they did not intend that all committee meetings be subject to the act." Wash AGO 1986 No. 16, p. 11 (Attached as Appendix D). In the 1986 Opinion, the Attorney General analyzed whether a subcommittee of a governing body, composed of members of

² Because CAPR has not alleged that the Team ever conducted hearings or took public testimony or public comment, that portion of RCW 42.30.020(2) is not addressed.

the governing body, is subject to the OPMA. *Id.* The formal Opinion remains the leading authority on the subject. Although not binding, formal Attorney General Opinions are persuasive authority and "entitled to great weight." *Five Corners Family Farmers v. State*, 173 Wn.2d 296, 309, 268 P.3d 892 (2011). Additionally, RCW 42.30.210 provides that the attorney general's office may provide information, technical assistance, and training on the provisions of the OPMA.

A 1983 amendment to the OPMA added the language "or any committee thereof when the committee acts on behalf of the governing body conducts hearings, or takes testimony or public comment" to the definition of "governing body." Wash AGO 1986 No 16. The Opinion concludes that "committees thereof" included all committees "created by the governing body pursuant to its executive authority..." *Id.* at 3.

The Attorney General Opinion next analyzes the phrase "acts on behalf of" and concludes that "a committee acts on behalf of the governing body when it exercises actual or *de facto* decisionmaking authority for the governing body." *Id.* at 5. The Opinion reasons that the words "conducts hearings or takes testimony or public comment" would be superfluous if all committee meetings were subject to the Act. *Id.* The legislative history of the amendment supports this conclusion. Specifically, while discussing the bill proposing the 1983 amendment

during the legislative session, in response to a point of inquiry from Representative Isaacson, Representative Hine described the scope of the 1983 amendment as follows:

Mr. Isaacson: "Representative Hine, would formal notices be required when preliminary discussions were being held by members of the city council and city staff?"

Ms. Hine: "Representative Isaacson, I believe that is not the intent of this legislation."

Mr. Isaacson: "Would the bill apply to the meeting of a budget committee consisting of less than a majority of the governing body, discussing the budget with a department head?"

Ms. Hine: "No, Representative Isaacson."

Mr. Isaacson: "What are the requirements with respect to giving formal notice?"

Ms. Hine: "It's the intent of the legislation, we believe, subject to the deliberations of the governing body, that this apply only to the deliberations of the governing body or subcommittees which the governing body specifically authorizes to act on its behalf, or which policy, testimony or comments are made in its behalf. In other words, it's when making policy or rules, not for general comments or any kind of informal type meeting they may have. Those would not require the official formal notice."

Id. at 7 (Emphasis added) (citing House Journal, 48th Legislature (1983), at 1294). The Attorney General Opinion concludes that,

[a] committee acts on behalf of the governing body when it exercises actual or de facto decisionmaking authority for the governing body. This is in contrast to the situation where the committee simply provides advice or information to the governing body. In our opinion such advisory committees do not act on behalf of the governing body and are therefore not subject to the Act.

Id. at 7.

Here, the record does not support CAPR's claim that subcommittees of the County Council are "governing bodies." There is no evidence that the San Juan County Council created a group to act on its behalf, or that such a group exercised actual or *de facto* decision-making authority for the Council.

Paraphrasing Representative Hine, the County Council did not "specifically authorize" the Team to "act on its behalf." Under the County Charter, the power to act was reserved to the six member County Council by ordinance or resolution. CP 726-27 (San Juan County Charter). No "official action" has been shown by a majority of the County Council. In fact, the only evidence before the Court shows that such authority was not granted and was reserved to the full County Council. CP 761-70, 1006-07. Accordingly, CAPR failed to establish a mandatory element of its claim.

D. The Subcommittees Did Not Take "Action."

Finally, even if CAPR had shown the Team was a committee of the County Council and acted on behalf of the County Council, CAPR did not demonstrate that "action" was taken in violation of the OPMA. Despite hours of depositions and extensive written interrogatories, no such evidence of "action" appeared.

"Action" requires the "transaction of official business" of the governing body. Wash AGO 2006 No 6. (Attached as Appendix E). "The governing body members must communicate about issues that may or will come before the [governing body] for a vote; in other words, the members must take 'action' as the OPMA defines it." *Wood*, at 565. This does not include receiving information about upcoming issues or communicating among themselves about matters unrelated to the governing body's business via email. *Id*.

Viewing the facts in the light most favorable to CAPR, there were discussions among three Council members on the topics of the critical areas ordinances, the scheduling and sequence of consideration and methods of presenting scientific reports to the full Council. CP 256, 309, 392. Discussions alone by a minority of a County Council has never served as the basis for violation of the OPMA and for good reason; such limited action was not intended to be subject to the Act. As Representative Hines explained, "it's when making policy or rules, not for general comments or any kind of informal type meeting they may have. Those would not require the official formal notice." Wash AGO 1986 No 16, p 7. The three members never took action on the business of the full Council.

E. Judge Hancock Properly Dismissed CAPR's Entire Complaint

 The County moved for summary judgment of CAPR's entire Complaint.

Judge Hancock found that the County "moved for summary judgment of dismissal of CAPR's complaint in its entirety." CP 925.

Judge Hancock went on to state,

CAPR's allegations relating to the budget subcommittee, the general governance subcommittee, and the solid waste subcommittee are without merit. CAPR never sued these entities or the members thereof, and never produced any evidence showing that these subcommittees had violated the OPMA. Summary judgment of dismissal of CAPR's complaint in its entirety was appropriate.

CP 925. Judge Hancock then reiterated, "CAPR produced no evidence that the budget subcommittee, the general governance subcommittee, or the solid waste subcommittee violated the OPMA." CP 926 (emphasis in original).

CAPR does not identify the date of alleged meetings, who was present at the meetings, or what action was taken. Given the procedural posture of the case, the fact that only the CAO subcommittee is a named party, and the limited relief requested in CAPR's claim for relief, Judge Hancock appropriately granted the County's motion for summary judgment and dismissed the case in its entirety.

 Judge Hancock properly found no basis for injunctive relief and that CAPR failed to establish an action or decision made in violation of the OPMA.

CAPR's Amended Complaint requests the Court to declare null and void any and all decisions made in violation of the OPMA, and enjoin future violations. CP 42-43. As a preliminary matter, CAPR failed to identify any decisions made in violation of the OPMA, thus there was nothing for Judge Hancock to declare null and void. Indeed, Judge Hancock observed:

The OPMA itself makes it clear that the remedy for a violation of the OPMA is to declare that "[a]ny action taken at meetings failing to comply with the provisions of this subsection shall be null and void." RCW 42.30.060(1). So at best, even if CAPR had shown that there were meetings held in violation of the OPMA, which it has not, the remedy would be to declare any actions taken at such meetings null and void, not anything that occurred in compliance with the law thereafter.

There is no indication that there were votes or other official action taken at any such gatherings, as the term "action" is normally understood. The court is mindful of the fact that "action" is defined under the Act to include discussions, considerations, reviews, and the like, but as a practical matter, it would be pointless to declare any such matters null and void.

CP 827.

Similarly, Judge Hancock denied CAPR's request for injunctive relief. The County ended unnoticed gatherings of the Team in April 2012, six months before this lawsuit was filed and eight months before the adoption of the Critical Areas Ordinances. CP 771-75. In November 2012, voters adopted charter amendment Proposition 3, ensuring that all future gatherings of three Council members comply with the OPMA. CP 741. Finally, the voters further adopted charter amendment Proposition 1, reducing the total number of Council members to three (CP 737); and in doing so created a bright line rule so that even administrative decisions will occur in the public's view. The request for injunctive relief and invalidation in CAPR's Amended Complaint simply did not make sense and was properly denied.

3. <u>Invalidation of the critical areas ordinances is not appropriate</u>.

CAPR's Opening Brief requests attorney's fees and costs and entry of a declaration invalidating the four critical areas ordinances adopted in December 2012. Opening Brief at 48. Judge Hancock ruled that,

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